UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA, RICHMOND DIVISION

	CLINT BOLICK,

 an individual and resident of the

 Commonwealth of Virginia,

and,

ROBIN B. HEATWOLE,

 an individual and resident of the 

 Commonwealth of Virginia,

and,

DRY COMAL CREEK VINEYARDS,

 A Texas Corporation,

and, 

HOOD RIVER VINEYARDS, 

 an Oregon Sole Proprietorship,

and, 

MIURA VINEYARDS,

 a California Limited Liability Company, 

                       Plaintiffs,


vs.

CLARENCE W. ROBERTS,

CHAIRMAN, Virginia Department

Of Alcoholic Beverage Control

Serve:    GEORGE CHABALEWSKI, ESQ.

               Senior Assistant Attorney General

               Office of the Attorney General

               900 E. Main Street

               Richmond, Virginia 23219

and,

SANDRA CANADA,

COMMISSIONER, Virginia Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control

Serve:    GEORGE CHABALEWSKI, ESQ.

               Senior Assistant Attorney General

               Office of the Attorney General

               900 E. Main Street

               Richmond, Virginia 23219

and,

CLATER MOTTINGER, COMMISSIONER, Virginia Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control

Serve:    GEORGE CHABALEWSKI, ESQ.

               Senior Assistant Attorney General

               Office of the Attorney General

               900 E. Main Street

               Richmond, Virginia 23219



Defendants, 

_____________________________________

VIRGINIA WINE WHOLESALERS

ASSOCIATION, INC.

                       Intervenor.

Serve:     WALTER A. MARSTON, ESQ.

                Riverfront Plaza-West Tower

                901 E. Byrd Street, Suite 1700

                Richmond, VA 23219-4069
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	Case No.: 3:99CV755     

PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
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Plaintiffs allege:

A.
THE NATURE AND SCOPE OF THE ACTION
1.
This suit invokes federal question jurisdiction to raise a challenge to the constitutionality of Chapters 1, 2, 3, and 4 of the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Act (Virginia Code Ann.§ 4.1-100 et seq.) (2000))(“Statutes”)
 based on well-settled Supreme Court and lower court precedents holding that such laws violate the Commerce Clause.  The challenged Statutes forbid and make it a misdemeanor, respectively, for a maker of alcoholic beverages
 located outside of Virginia to sell and ship their products -- including, respectively, wine, beer and distilled spirits -- to residents of Virginia and for residents of Virginia to purchase and receive such alcoholic beverages for their use from a non-Virginia maker thereof.  Plaintiffs contend and seek a declaration that the statutory proscription on the direct sale and shipment to and purchase by Virginia residents from makers of alcoholic beverages located outside of Virginia is unconstitutional in that it violates Art I, § 8 (Commerce Clause) of the United States Constitution.  Plaintiffs seek a declaration that: 

(1) Plaintiffs Miura Vineyards, Hood River Winery, and Dry Comal Creek Winery have a right under the Commerce Clause to sell and deliver their wines directly to residents of Virginia; and, (2) Plaintiffs Robin Heatwole and Clint Bolick have a right under the Commerce Clause to purchase alcoholic beverages (including wine and beer) from their makers (including wineries and breweries) located in States other than Virginia and to have such alcoholic beverages delivered directly to them in Virginia by such out-of-state makers.  Plaintiffs further seek a declaration that the application of the Statutes including, but not necessarily limited to  §§ 4.1-103 (1), 4.1-119(A), 4.1-207(2), 4.1-207(4), 4.1-207(5), 4.1-208 (3), 4.1-208(6), 4.1-208(7), 4.1-208 (8), 4.1-209(1), 4.1-209 (5), 4.1-209 (8), 4.1-302, 4.1-303, and 4.1-310, deprive or infringe Plaintiffs’ civil rights in derogation and violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, in that such statutes, all of which are enforced and administered by Defendants in their official capacities and under color of State law, unconstitutionally violate the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution.

B.
THE PARTIES
2.
Plaintiffs are composed of two (2) categories of “persons”:

a.
Plaintiffs Robin B. Heatwole and Clint Bolick (“Consumer Plaintiffs”) are, and at all times mentioned herein were, citizens and residents of the Commonwealth of Virginia, over the age of 21 years, and are not holders of any Virginia license relating to the importation, distribution, or sale of alcoholic beverages;

b.
Plaintiffs Dry Comal Creek Winery, Miura Vineyards, and Hood River Vineyards (“Winery Plaintiffs”) are wineries producing wine for, among other things, the personal consumption of individuals.  Each is licensed to produce and sell wine by the State in which it is located and by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (“ATF”) of the United States Department of Treasury.  The Winery Plaintiffs are organized and/or incorporated and located outside of the Commonwealth as follows:

1.
Plaintiff Dry Comal Creek Winery is incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas, and has its principle place of business located in New Braunfels, Texas;

2.
Plaintiff Miura Vineyards is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of California, and has its principle place of business located in Calistoga, California; and,

3.
Plaintiff Hood River Vineyards is a sole proprietorship organized under the laws of the State of Oregon, and has its principle place of business located in Hood River, Oregon.

3.
Defendants are employees and officials of the Commonwealth of Virginia as follows:

a.
Defendant Clarence W. Roberts is sued in his capacity as Chairman (“Chairman”) of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Board (“ABC”) of the Commonwealth of Virginia, a position to which he was duly appointed pursuant to Section 4.1-102(A).  As Chairman, he is responsible for the enforcement of provisions of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, § 4.1-100 et seq. (“Act”), including those sections dealing with the importation of alcoholic beverages into, and the distribution, sale and purchase thereof in the Commonwealth.  He is sued only in his official capacity as Chairman and in doing all the things hereinafter mentioned acted under color of his authority as such, under color of the statutes, customs, and usages of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and pursuant to the official policy of the Commonwealth as created by the legislature and executive branch thereof, respectively, acting under color of their respective authority.

b.
Defendant Clater Mottinger is sued in his capacity as Commissioner of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Board of the Commonwealth of Virginia, a position to which he was duly appointed pursuant to § 4.1-102(A).  As an ABC Commissioner, he is responsible for the enforcement of provisions of the Act including those sections dealing with the importation of alcoholic beverages into, and the distribution, sale and purchase thereof in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  He is sued only in his official capacity as an ABC Commissioner and in doing all the things hereinafter mentioned acted under color of his authority as such, under color of the statutes, customs, and usages of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and pursuant to the official policy of the Commonwealth as created by the legislature and executive branch thereof, respectively, acting under color of their respective authority.

c.
Defendant Sandra Canada is sued in her capacity as a Commission of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Board of the Commonwealth of Virginia, a position to which she was duly appointed pursuant to § 4.1-102(A).  As an ABC Commissioner, she is responsible for the enforcement of provisions of the Act including those sections dealing with the importation of alcoholic beverages into, and the distribution, sale, and purchase thereof in the Commonwealth.  She is sued only in her official capacity as an ABC Commissioner and in doing all of the things hereinafter mentioned acted under color of her authority as such, under color of the statutes, customs, and usages of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and pursuant to the official policy of the Commonwealth as created by the legislature and executive branch thereof, respectively, acting under color of their respective authority.

4.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that one or more Defendants may be subject to retirement, resignation, or other removal from office during the pendency of this litigation.

5.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that the successor(s) to any Defendant who may retire, resign, or otherwise be removed from office during the pendency of this litigation will engage in the same conduct, enforce the same unconstitutional Statutes, and infringe the same civil rights as their predecessors.


6.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all times herein mentioned, each of the Defendants was the agent of each of the remaining Defendants, and in doing the things hereinafter alleged was acting within the course and scope of such agency and with the permission of their co-defendants.

C.
JURISDICTION
7.
This case is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and 28 U.S.C. § 2201.  Jurisdiction is based on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(3) and (4).

D.
VENUE
8.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that all of the Defendants reside and carry out their official duties in this District and/or that a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims arose in this District, thereby making venue proper in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

E.
STANDING
9.
Consumer Plaintiffs, as adult consumers of alcoholic beverages residing in the Commonwealth who have unsuccessfully sought to purchase alcoholic beverages from their makers and import the same into the Commonwealth for their personal use have standing to bring this action as consumers pursuant to General Motors Corp. v. Tracy, 519 U.S. 28 (1997).

10.
Winery Plaintiffs, as wineries that would and are able to sell and ship wine directly to consumers residing in the Commonwealth as well as to ABC-run government stores if it were not contrary to the laws of the Commonwealth to do so, have standing to bring this action on their own respective behalf pursuant to Dennis v. Higgins, 498 U.S. 439 (1991).

F.
FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS
1.
Facts Relating To Direct Sales, Shipment, And Purchase Of Alcoholic Beverages By Consumer Plaintiffs From, Among Others, The Winery Plaintiffs

11.
The respective Consumer Plaintiffs have sought to purchase alcoholic beverages from, among others, the respective Winery Plaintiffs for delivery to them in Virginia as follows:

a.
On November 1, 1999, Plaintiff Bolick contacted Plaintiff Hood River Vineyards by sending a letter to place an order for one case of Hood River Vineyard’s 1995 Zinfandel.  A true and correct copy of that letter is Exhibit 1 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.  Attached to that letter was a reproduced copy of Bolick’s Virginia driver’s license.  Hood River thereafter responded to Bolick’s offer to purchase wine, advising him that while the winery had ample supplies of wine to sell to him it could not sell and ship the wine to Virginia due to the laws of the Commonwealth.  A true and correct copy of that letter is Exhibit 2 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.  Because of that refusal Bolick was forced to purchase wine in Virginia, including either Virginia farm winery produced wine, Virginia winery produced wine, or wine imported into the Commonwealth and distributed to retailers by Virginia wine importers and wholesalers, respectively.  

b.
On October 22, 1999, Plaintiff Robin B. Heatwole contacted Plaintiff Dry Comal Creek Winery by sending a letter to place an order for one case of its “French Colombard” wine. A true and correct copy of that letter is Exhibit 3 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.  Attached to that letter was a reproduced copy of Ms. Heatwole’s Virginia driver’s license.  Dry Comal Creek Winery thereafter responded to Ms. Heatwole’s offer to purchase wine, advising her that while it had ample supplies of wine to sell and ship to her in Virginia, it could not do so due to the laws of the Commonwealth.  A true and correct copy of that letter is Exhibit 4 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.  Because of that refusal Ms. Heatwole was forced to purchase wine in Virginia, including either Virginia farm winery produced wine, Virginia winery produced wine, or wine imported into the Commonwealth and distributed to retailers by Virginia wine importers and wholesalers, respectively.

c.
On October 25, 1999, Plaintiff Robin B. Heatwole contacted Plaintiff Miura Vineyards by sending a letter (with a copy of her driver’s license attached) to place an order for one case of its “Napa” Chardonnay.  A true and correct copy of that letter is Exhibit 5 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.  Plaintiff Miura Vineyards thereafter responded to Ms. Heatwole’s letter, advising her that while it ample wine on hand to sell and ship to her in Virginia, it could not do so due to the laws of the Commonwealth.  A true and correct copy of that letter is Exhibit 6 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.  Because of that refusal to sell and ship, Ms. Heatwole was forced to purchase wine in Virginia, including Virginia farm winery produced wine, Virginia winery produced wine, or out-of-state wine imported into the Commonwealth and distributed to retailers by Virginia wine importers and wholesalers, respectively.  

d.
Within one year prior to the filing of this Amended Complaint, Plaintiff Robin B. Heatwole also made an attempt to purchase a bottle of a single malt Scotch, from an ABC-run government store located in Virginia.  The government store neither carried nor sold that brand of Scotch.  While it could have “special ordered” the Scotch for her, it would do so only if she agreed to purchase a full case (12 - 750ml bottles) of the Scotch.  Due to the laws of the Commonwealth precluding her purchasing distilled spirits from other than the government store, Ms. Heatwole was forced to purchase another brand of distilled spirits that the ABC had purchased and imported into the Commonwealth for sale in its stores. 

e.
Within one year prior to the filing of this Amended Complaint, Plaintiff Robin B. Heatwole made an attempt to purchase a six (6) pack of SLO Brew “Pale Ale,” produced by SLO Brewing Company, a brewery located in Paso Robles, California and licensed by the State of California and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (“ATF”) of the United States Department of Treasury to produce and sell beer, from a licensed retailer in Virginia.  That label of beer, however, was neither imported into the Commonwealth nor distributed by a licensed Virginia beer wholesaler and, hence, was not available for sale in the Commonwealth.  Because of her inability to purchase the type of beer she requested and to have the brewery ship beer to her in Virginia, Ms. Heatwole was forced to purchase other brands of beer available in Virginia, including Virginia brewery-produced beer or out-of-state beer imported into the Commonwealth and distributed to retailers by Virginia beer importers and wholesalers, respectively.

2.
The Statutory Scheme And Challenged Statutes

12.
The Commonwealth, as a part of its regulatory scheme involving the sale of wine in the Commonwealth, has enacted various statutes that create two classes of wine producers: farm wineries, [§§ 4.1-100, 4.1-207(5)], and wineries, [§ 207 (l)].   There are currently 63 licensed farm wineries and 5 licensed wineries in Virginia. 


13.
If granted a farm winery license, a farm winery may, pursuant to § 4.1-207(5), sell and ship wine directly to consumers residing in Virginia:

“Such licenses shall also authorize the licensee to sell wine at retail at the places of business designated in the licenses, which may include no more than two additional retail establishments of the licensee.  Wine may be sold at these business places for on-premises consumption and in closed containers for off-premises consumption, including delivery and shipment of such wine to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”  (Emphasis added)

14.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that such farm wineries sell wine for home delivery by, among other means, telephone and United States mail directly to consumers residing in the Commonwealth.  A true and correct copy of an order form issued by Oakencroft Vineyard and Winery located in Virginia, soliciting purchases of its wines by consumers residing in Virginia for home delivery is Exhibit 7 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.

15.
When a winery obtains a retail off-premises winery license, it too may sell and ship wine directly to Virginia consumers pursuant to § 4.1-207(4):

“Retail off-premises licenses to persons holding winery licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine at the place of business designated in the winery license, in closed containers, for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the wine to the purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”  (Emphasis added)

16.
The ABC has issued at least one (1) retail off-premises license to a Virginia winery.    


17.
Unlike Virginia-produced winery and farm winery wines, all wine produced outside and imported into the Commonwealth may be sold only by a person or entity owning a wine wholesale license issued by the Board pursuant to § 4.1-207 (2):

“Wholesale wine licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to acquire and receive deliveries and shipment of wine and to sell and deliver or ship the wine, in accordance with Board regulations, in closed containers, to (i) persons licensed to sell such wine in the Commonwealth, (ii) persons outside the Commonwealth for resale outside the Commonwealth, (iii) religious congregations for use only for sacramental purposes, and (iv) owners or boats registered under the laws of the United States sailing for ports of call of a foreign country or another state.”

18.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that at present there are eighty-eight (88) licensed wholesalers in Virginia.

19.
Not every person or entity may become a licensed wine or beer wholesaler in Virginia.  For instance, an out-of-state winery or brewery may not be issued a new wholesale license pursuant to § 4.1-223 (2):

“The Board shall refuse to grant any ... (2) wholesale beer license or wholesaler wine license to any entity that is owned, in whole or in part, by any manufacturer of alcoholic beverages, any subsidiary or affiliate of such manufacturer or any person under common control with such manufacturer.”

20.
Pursuant to § 4.1-216(B)(3)(b), an out-of-state winery or brewery may become a “financing corporation” that can participate in financing a wholesale licensee: i.e., a winery or brewery may provide funds “in order to assist in a change of ownership of an existing wholesale licensee ....”  The Board may refuse to grant a wholesale wine or beer license to any person who has not established or will not establish a place of business within the Commonwealth pursuant to § 4.1-223 (1).  This section provides that the ABC Board shall refuse to grant any

“[w]holesale beer or wine license to any person, unless such person has established or will establish a place or places of business within the Commonwealth at which will be received and from which will be distributed all alcoholic beverages sold by such person in the Commonwealth.  However, in special circumstances, the Board, subject to any regulations it may adopt, may permit alcoholic beverages to be received into or distributed from places other than established places of business.”

21.
When purchasing other than Virginia-produced wines for resale in Virginia, wholesalers in Virginia must, pursuant to § 4.1-207 (2), either hold an importer’s license, or buy only from an entity holding an importer’s license: 

“No wholesaler wine licensee shall purchase wine for resale from a person outside the Commonwealth who does not hold a wine importer’s license unless such wholesale wine licensee holds a wine importer’s license and purchases wine for resale pursuant to the privileges of such wine importer’s license.”

22.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that most, if not all, Virginia-licensed wine wholesalers also hold an importer’s license. 

   
23.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that the total number of wine wholesalers in Virginia has, in the past 20 years, decreased in number and, further, that the decrease has been caused by consolidation rather than attrition.   

24.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that the licensed wine wholesalers in Virginia, even assuming a willingness by them to represent all labels of wine produced in the United States, do not have the capacity do so. 

  
25.
All wines are not created equal in terms of the willingness of wine wholesalers to handle them or of consumers to purchase them.

26.
It is a misdemeanor to import, ship, transport, or bring wine into Virginia unless it is consigned through a licensed Virginia wholesaler pursuant to Virginia Code Ann. § 4.1-310 (B):

“No wine shall be imported, shipped, transported or brought into the Commonwealth unless it is consigned to a wholesale wine licensee.” 

27.
While the challenged statutes forbid and criminalize the direct sale and delivery of wine by an out-of-state winery to a Virginia resident, Virginia law permits and does not criminalize the direct sale and delivery of wine from a Virginia-licensed business located within the Commonwealth to an adult resident of the Commonwealth, including farm wineries and winery-run retail outlets holding an off-premises winery license as well as the following:

a.
Retail stores, including but not limited to convenience grocery stores, grocery stores, wine shops or other emporium having an off-premises wine license may, pursuant to § 209 (2), “sell wine ... in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the same to purchasers ...”

b.
Gift shops, which are defined by § 4.1-00 as “any bona fide retail store selling, predominantly, gifts, books, souvenirs, specialty items relating to history, original and handmade arts and products, collectibles, crafts, and floral arrangements, which is open to the public on a regular basis” located in “a permanent structure where stock is displayed and offered for sale and which has facilities to properly secure any stock of wine ...,” may, pursuant to § 209(7) and if they have a gift shop license, “sell wine ... unchilled, only within the interior premises of the gift shop in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the wine .... to purchasers. ....”

Plaintiffs are advised and believe and thereon allege that such businesses sell wine for home delivery by, among other means, telephone and the United States mail directly to consumers residing in Virginia.  A true and correct copy of an advertisement from the Virginia Wine of the Month Club soliciting direct purchases of wine by consumers residing in Virginia for home delivery is Exhibit 8 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.

28.
It is the policy of the Commonwealth, as evidenced by the creation and operation of the Virginia Winegrowers Advisory Board, § 3.1-1060 et seq, to foster and further the growth of the Virginia wine industry.  Indeed, as stated in § 3.1-1062 (2), the Commonwealth’s policy, through the Commissioner of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services acting on the recommendations of the Advisory Board, which includes as members one or more of the Defendants or their employees, is to “develop[] new or improved markets or marketing methods for wine...”

29.
The Commonwealth, as part of its regulatory scheme concerning the sale of distilled spirits, has enacted legislation authorizing the ABC Board to buy, import and sell distilled spirits and to sell only Virginia farm winery-produced wine pursuant to §§ 4.1-103 (1) and 4.1-119(A):

“Subject to the requirements of §§ 4.1-121 and 4.1-122 [which deal with referenda precluding the establishment of government stores in a county, city, or town having a population of 1,000 or more], the Board may establish, maintain and operate government stores for the sale of alcoholic beverages, other than beer and wine not produced by farm wineries, vermouth, and mixers, in such counties, cities, and towns considered advisable by the Board.”  (Emphasis added)

30.
The ABC-run government stores do not stock/sell all labels of distilled spirits available in the stream of interstate commerce.  However, if requested by a consumer, it will “special order” spirits “if available” only if the consumer purchases a full case (12 - 750ml bottles) of the specially-ordered spirits.

31.
The ABC-run government stores cannot sell any wine unless it is produced by Virginia farm wineries.  

32.
The Commonwealth imposes a lower sales tax (4%) on the Virginia farm winery-produced wine sold through its stores than it does on wines sold elsewhere (4.5%) pursuant to §§ 4.1-234, 4.1-235, 58.1-603 (1), 58.1-604-606.
  

33.
It is a misdemeanor for anyone, including consumers and distilleries, to import, ship, transport or bring distilled spirits into the Commonwealth, with certain exceptions, pursuant to § 4.1-310 (A):

“No alcoholic beverages ... shall be imported, shipped, transported or brought into the Commonwealth, other than to distillery licensees ..., unless consigned to the Board.”

As with beer and wine, exceptions do exist to the no-importation rule for distilled spirits pursuant to § 4.1- 310(E):

“The provisions of this chapter shall not prohibit (i) any person from bringing, in his personal possession, or through United States Customs in his accompanying baggage, into the Commonwealth not for resale, alcoholic beverages in an amount not to exceed one gallon or four liters if any part of the alcoholic beverages being transported is held in metric-sized containers, (ii) the shipment or transportation into the Commonwealth of a reasonable quantity of alcoholic beverages not for resale in the personal or household effects of a person relocating his place of residence to the Commonwealth, or (iii) the possession or storage of alcoholic beverages on passenger boats, dining cars, buffet cars and club cars, licensed under this title, or common carriers engaged in interstate or foreign commerce.”

34.
The ABC-run government stores are run “for profit,” and generated a profit of approximately  $48,000,000 in 1999 from the sale of distilled spirits and Virginia farm winery-produced wines.  It is the practice and policy of the ABC that the prices at which distilled spirits are sold to consumers be reduced by the amount of any “special” or “promotional” discount provided it by the distiller from which it purchases its distilled spirits. 


35.
The Board may grant brewery licenses for the production and sale of beer pursuant to § 4.1-208 (1).  There are presently 39 licensed breweries in the Commonwealth.

36.
A licensed Virginia brewery may sell and ship its beer directly consumers residing in Virginia if it holds a retail off-premises brewery license issued pursuant to § 4.1-208 (7):

“Retail off-premises brewery licenses to persons holding a brewery license which shall authorize the licensee to (i) sell beer at the place of business designated in the brewery license, in closed containers which shall include growlers and other reusable containers, for off-premises consumption and (ii) deliver or ship the beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”  (Emphasis added)

37.
Beer produced by out-of-state breweries may not be brought into Virginia except through an importer licensed pursuant to § 4.1-208(4):

“Beer importers’ licenses, which shall authorize persons licensed within or outside the Commonwealth to sell and deliver or ship beer into the Commonwealth, in accordance with Board regulations, in closed containers, to persons in the Commonwealth licensed to sell beer at wholesale for the purpose of resale.”

Not every person or entity wanting a beer importer’s license can obtain one for the same reasons set forth relative to wine importers’ licenses.

38.
Beer, regardless of whether it is produced in Virginia or by an out-of-state brewery, may also be sold in retail outlets such as hotels, restaurants, clubs, dining cars, club cars of trains, sight-seeing boats, convenience grocery stores, and food concessions at sporting or entertainment events pursuant to § 4.1-208(5). 

 
39.
Some, but not necessarily, all of these licensees can sell and ship wine to a Virginia consumer if they obtain a retail off-premises beer license issued by the Board pursuant to § 4.1-208 (6): 

“Retail off-premises beer licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”  (Emphasis added)

40.
Direct marketing and delivery to a consumer of beer may also be done by business entities holding a retail on-and-off premises beer license pursuant to § 4.1-208 (8):

“Retail on-and-off premises beer licenses to persons enumerated in subdivisions 5 a and d [hotels, restaurants and clubs, and convenience grocery stores], which shall accord all the privileges conferred by retail on-premises beer licenses and in addition, shall authorize the licensee to sell beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”  (Emphasis added)

41.
It is a misdemeanor for an out-of-state brewery to sell and ship beer to Virginia residents pursuant to § 4.1-302:

“If an person who is not licensed sells any alcoholic beverages except as permitted by this title, he shall be guilty of Class 1 misdemeanor.”

42.
Beer produced outside of the Commonwealth can be sold in the Commonwealth only through a beer wholesaler licensed pursuant to § 4.1-208 (3).  

43.
There are labels of beer produced outside of Virginia which Virginia-licensed beer importers do not choose to import and/or which beer wholesalers either choose to not distribute or do not have the capacity to represent. 

44.
It is a misdemeanor for a consumer to import beer for their personal use and enjoyment pursuant to  § 4.1-310(C):

“No beer shall be imported, shipped, transported or brought into the Commonwealth except to persons licensed to sell it.”

45.
The ABC Board also has authority to issue retail off-premises wine and beer licenses that allow businesses such as convenience grocery stores to sell wine and beer directly to Virginia consumers and to deliver/ship it to them pursuant to § 4.1-209 (1) (h):

“Retail off-premises wine and beer licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the same to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”  (Emphasis added)

46.
Hotels, restaurants and clubs may also be issued a retail on-and-off premises license by the Board, pursuant to  § 4.1-209 (5), that allows such business to sell wine and beer directly to Virginia consumers and to deliver/ship it to them.  This section provides:

“Retail on-and-off premises wine and beer licenses to persons enumerated in subdivision 1a [hotels, restaurants and clubs], which shall accord all the privileges conferred by retail on-premises wine and beer licenses and in addition, shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the same to the purchasers, in accordance with Board regulations.” (Emphasis added)

47.
Gift shops may also be licensed by the Board to sell beer and wine to Virginia consumers and to deliver/ship it to them pursuant to § 4.1-209 (8):

“Gift shop licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer unchilled, only within the interior premises of the gift shop in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver or ship the wine and beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations.”

48.
The Commonwealth levies criminal penalties for the unlicensed importation, sale or purchase of alcoholic beverages.  Pursuant to § 4.1-302:

“If an person who is not licensed sells any alcoholic beverages except as permitted by this title, he shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.”

49.
Pursuant to § 4.1-303:

“If any person buys alcoholic beverages from any person other than the [Alcoholic Beverage Control] Board, a government store or a person authorized under this title to sell alcoholic beverages, he shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.”

50.
§ 4.1-223 provides:

“When a person has been found guilty of the illegal ... possession, transportation, or sale of alcoholic beverages..., the court may without further notice or additional hearing enter an order of interdiction prohibiting the sale of alcoholic beverages to such person for one year from the date of the entry of the order, and thereafter if further ordered.”

51.
No mechanism exists under Virginia law by which  -- assuming that out-of-state wineries, breweries, or distilleries could sell and deliver their products directly to Virginia consumers -- an out-of-state maker of alcohol could pay taxes to Virginia on the products sold and delivered to Virginia residents.  

52.
Plaintiff Wineries would, if permitted to sell and deliver their products directly to Virginia consumers, collect and remit to Virginia the taxes arising there from if such a practice were allowed and if the Board would accept the payment by them.  

53.
States other than Virginia have adopted a variety of legislation that allows the direct sale and shipping of wine from out-of-state makers of alcohol to consumers.  These fit into two categories.

a.
Louisiana and New Hampshire have adopted legislation that allows out-of-state wineries to ship wine to their respective residents if those wineries apply for and receive a specific license.  

b.
Twelve (12) States have enacted legislation that allows limited quantities of wine to be sold and shipped to a consumer for personal consumption including California [Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 23661.2 (Deering 1999), Colorado [Colo. Rev. Stat. § 12-47-104 (1999), Idaho [Idaho Code § 23-1309A (1999)], Illinois [Ill. Rev. Stat. Ch. 5, para. 2-1 (1999)], Iowa [Iowa Code § 123.22 (1997)], Minnesota [Minn. Stat. Ann. § 340A-417 (1999)], Missouri [Mo.Rev.Stat. § 311.410 (1999)], New Mexico [N.M. Stat. Ann. § 60-7A-3 (2000)], Oregon [Or.Rev.Stat. § 471.229 (1997)], Washington [Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 66.12.190 (1999)], West Virginia [W.Va.Code § 60-8-6 (2000)], and Wisconsin [Wis. Stat. §§ 125.58, 125.68 (1999).

54.
Legislation has been proposed in Virginia that, had it been enacted, would have added Virginia to the list of “reciprocity” States. 

55.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that in the event they are discovered to have shipped wine illegally in to the Commonwealth or to have had alcoholic beverages illegally shipped to them in the Commonwealth, respectively, the Commonwealth will enforce the challenged statutes against them.

G.
THE STATUTES’ AND STATUTORY SCHEME’S IMPACT ON INTERSTATE COMMERCE IN ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES
56.
The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution (Art. I, § 8, cl. 3) empowers Congress to “regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes.”  Based upon a conclusion that the Commerce Clause not only empowers Congress to regulate interstate commerce but also imposes limitations on the States in the absence of congressional action, the courts have long recognized the existence of a “dormant” commerce clause which expresses the federal interest in promoting free and fair trade among the States and thereby denies to the States the power to enact discriminatory or protective legislation that discriminates against or impinges upon the free flow of interstate commerce.  Case of State Freight Tax, 15 U.S. (Wall.) 232 (1973); West Lynn Creamery, Inc. v. Healy, 512 U.S. 186 (1994).

57.
The challenged statutes are protectionist and violate the dormant commerce clause.  They facially discriminate against commerce with other states by forbidding and criminalizing the extraterritorial sales and shipment of alcoholic beverages by their makers to Virginia consumers.  There is no legitimate state interest promoted by these Sections that outweighs the constitutional mandate for the free flow of commerce between the States.

58.
The challenged statutes and statutory scheme deprive plaintiffs of their right to engage in interstate commerce because:

a.
The Consumer Plaintiffs are unable to lawfully purchase alcoholic beverages in States other than the Commonwealth for their respective personal use and consumption, and have the wine shipped across state boundaries to their homes in Virginia;

b.
The policy of the Defendants and Commonwealth to bring criminal prosecution actions against the Consumer Plaintiffs has chilled their respective desire and ability to purchase wines, even in person, for their personal use and consumption that would be shipped across state boundaries to their homes in the Commonwealth;

c.
The Winery Plaintiffs are unable to lawfully sell and ship their wines to consumers in the Commonwealth for their personal use and consumption, and to ship the wine across state boundaries to the homes of consumers in the Commonwealth.

d.
The Winery Plaintiffs are unable to lawfully sell and ship their wines to the ABC-run government stores since such stores may only directly purchase from and sell wine produced by Virginia farm wineries. 

e.
The policy of the Defendants and Commonwealth to bring criminal prosecution actions against the Winery Plaintiffs has chilled their respective desire and ability to accept orders for wine from Virginia residents such as the Consumer Plaintiffs to be delivered across state boundaries; and, 

f.
The Statutes render it unlawful for a common carrier to fulfill orders for makers and consumers of alcoholic beverages who request use of their services to deliver such beverages to the consumer at their homes in the Commonwealth.

59.
No interest of the Commonwealth is furthered by the protectionist Statutes that ban the direct importation of alcoholic beverages from their makers located outside of the Commonwealth to consumers residing within the Commonwealth but not by banning the direct delivery to them of alcoholic beverages from wineries, retail outlets, breweries, and other licensed facilities located in the Commonwealth.  Nor is any interest of the Commonwealth furthered by the protectionist Statutes that permit only the sale of Virginia farm winery-produced wine in ABC-run government stores (including the Defendants’ purchase of said wines directly from farm wineries rather than through wine wholesalers) to the exclusion of wine produced by out-of-state wineries.  In the alternative, any interest the Commonwealth may have in such practices is outweighed by the burdens imposed on interstate commerce.

60.
Assuming both the existence of one or more interests of the Commonwealth that is served by the ban on direct importation of alcoholic beverages from their makers located outside of the Commonwealth as well as the preclusion of the sale of out-of-state wine at ABC-run government stores and that such interests are legitimate, those interests can be promoted in many other ways that would be far less restrictive of and burdensome on interstate commerce.  There is no legitimate interest of the Commonwealth in the Statutes’ blanket prohibitions, particularly since a primary principle underlying the Commonwealth’s Alcoholic Beverage Control Act is to “encourage temperance, [by] discourag[ing] use of hard liquor and [to] give relative encouragement to use of lighter alcoholic beverages ....” such as wine and beer.  Virginia Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, “ABC History -- Eight Principles” recommended for state liquor control, Senate Document 5 -January 1934, a copy of which is Exhibit 9 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.

H.
CAUSES OF ACTION
61.
Paragraphs 1 through 60, inclusive, are hereby incorporated by reference for each of the following causes of action.


First Cause Of Action

(Declaratory Relief Pursuant To 28 U.S.C. § 2201)

62.
A concrete controversy of a justiciable nature exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants concerning the constitutionality of the challenged sections of the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Act.

63.
Plaintiff contend that these Statutes, for the reasons stated, are unconstitutional whereas Defendants contend to the contrary.  They are joined in that contention by the Intervenor.  The constitutionality of the Statutes is thus a concrete controversy that this Court can and should determine, consistent with the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201.

64.
Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that these Statutes violate the United States Constitution and they are not valid or enforceable laws.


Second Cause Of Action


(Violation of Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

65.
Defendants are persons who, under color of statute, ordinance, regulation, custom and usage of the Commonwealth of Virginia, have subjected or caused Plaintiffs to be deprived of the rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.  This conduct violates 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


Third Cause Of Action


(Equitable and Ancillary Relief Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202 and 42 U.S.C. § 1988)

66.
As a result of the Statutes’ unconstitutionality and the violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights, Plaintiffs are also entitled to equitable and ancillary relief.

67.
Injunctive Relief:  Plaintiffs, as a consequence of the unconstitutionality of the Sections, are entitled to permanent injunctive relief prohibiting Defendants, and each of them, their agents, employees and all other persons acting in concert with them, from enforcing the Statutes.

68.
Plaintiffs have no plain, adequate or complete remedy to speedily redress the wrongs herein complained of other than in this action.  Any other remedy to which Plaintiffs would be permitted would be threatened by such uncertainties and delays as to deny substantial relief, involve  a multiplicity of suits, and cause further irreparable injury to Plaintiffs, and is not adequate to protect them from the continuing threat of enforcement of the Statutes, and the chilling effect it has upon the exercise of their constitutional rights.

69.
Attorneys’ Fees, Expert Fees, and Costs:  An award of attorneys’ fees, expert fees, and costs is justified in accordance with 42 U.S.C. §§ 1988 (b) and (c).  This claim concerns an important public interest issue and seeks to vindicate important constitutional rights.


Prayer for Relief
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that this Court will:

1.
Declare the challenged sections to be in violation of the United States Constitution, and therefore not valid or enforceable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia;

2.
Declare that Defendants have violated 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in that Defendants have violated Plaintiffs’ rights under the Commerce Clause;

3.
Issue a permanent injunction:

(a)
restraining Defendants, their agents, servants, and employees and all other persons in active concert with them who receive actual notice of the Order of the Court by personal service or otherwise from enforcing, in any manner giving effect to, the provisions of the challenged statutes;

(b)
directing Defendants:

(i)
to notify those governmental officials and governmental boards and bodies of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the activities of which said Defendants are authorized by law, to supervise,  direct, or coordinate, that the provisions of the Sections are unconstitutional and void; and,

(ii)
to instruct those governmental officials and governmental boards and bodies to cease enforcing, or in any manner giving effect to, the provisions of the Statutes;

4.
Award Plaintiffs their reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees, expert fees, and costs associated with bringing and prosecuting this action; and

5.
Other relief the court deems just and proper under the circumstances.

Dated: October 6, 2000



Respectfully submitted,







By: ____________________________ 
   
Matthew S. Hale, Esq.
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Matthew S. Hale, Esq. (VSB # 39523)

HALE & ASSOCIATES, P.L.L.C.
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Williamsburg, Virginia 23185
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Michael Paul Thomas, Esq.

LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL PAUL THOMAS

1500 Quail Street, Suite 550

Newport Beach, CA 92660

Tel.:  (949) 477-2800

Fax.:  (949) 474-9347


Daniel Ortiz, Esq. (VSB # 28526)

UNIVERSITY OF VIRGINIA SCHOOL OF LAW

580 Massie Road

Charlottesville, VA 22903-1738

Tel.: (804) 924-3127

Fax:  (804) 982-2079
�	Unless otherwise stated, all statutes referred to in this First Amended Complaint are to Virginia Code Ann. (2000).


�	As used herein, “alcoholic beverages” is defined consistent with the definition of that term set forth in § 4.1-100:





“‘Alcoholic beverages’ includes alcohol, spirits, wine, and beer ... capable of being consumed by a human being. ....”


�	Plaintiffs do not challenge the constitutionality of these statutes insofar as they pertain to the levying or collection of a discriminatory tax.  Rather these statutes are referred to relative to the “protectionism” issue under the Commerce Clause.  Nor do Plaintiffs challenge the Commonwealth’s statutes making it illegal to sell alcoholic beverage to any person under the age of twenty-one.  See, e.g., § 4.1-304:  





“No person shall, except pursuant to subdivisions 1 through 5 of § 4.1-200, sell any alcoholic beverages to any person when at the time of such sales he knows or has reason to believe that the person to whom the sale is made is (i) less than twenty-one years of age, (ii) interdicted, or (iii) intoxicated.”





See also § 4.1-305(A) which makes it illegal for a minor to possess alcohol with two exceptions:





“No person to whom an alcoholic beverage may not lawfully be sold under § 4.1-304 shall purchase or possess, or attempt to purchase or possess, any alcoholic beverage, except ...  (ii) where possession of the alcoholic beverages by a person less than twenty-one years of age is due to such person’s making a delivery of alcoholic beverages in pursuance of his employment or an order of his parents. ....”  (Emphasis added)
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